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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,

No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.

JONATHAN SKRMETTI et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

DECLARATION OF CHLOE COLE
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I, Chloe Cole, declare as follows:

1. | am 18 years old and am not a party to this action. I have actual knowledge of the
following facts and, if called upon to testify to them, could and would do so competently. | am
submitting this Declaration in support of Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for a
Preliminary Injunction.

2. Tennessee’s law prohibiting medical procedures performed on minors “for the
purpose of: (A) Enabling a minor to identify with, or live as a purported identity inconsistent with
the minor’s sex, or (B) Treating purported discomfort or distress from a discordance between the
minor’s sex and asserted identity,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 68-33-101, et seq., is a necessary and
potentially life-saving regulation to protect vulnerable young people from the heartbreaking regret,
irreversible physical changes, and emotional pain | have experienced.

3. | am a detransitioned woman from California who medically transitioned as a child.
| grew up with ideal conditions for transitioning. | lived in an area where medical transition was
easily accessible, had the support of family and a group of friends, and started treatment as young
as possible. Yet, my transitioning was still a failure.

4. | began puberty very young, no older than 8 or 9. | had a lot of discomfort around
my developing body. | was afraid to grow from a girl into a woman and experience things like
periods, childbirth, and menopause. | only hear about how scary and painful being a woman was
from other girls and older women. | never really had any strong female role models, and | never
felt like 1 fit in with other girls, but | had a tomboyish streak influenced by my older brothers.

5. At the age of 12, | began to believe that | was transgender. | became obsessed about
the idea of becoming a boy. | believed that my insecurities and anxieties about being a

hypersexualized and vulnerable girl would magically disappear if | transitioned. At school, I also
2
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had trouble making friends but saw the praise that coming out as “trans” gave people on Instagram
and social media. | started socially transitioning from a girl into a male identity.

6. Soon after, | was diagnosed with gender dysphoria by a “gender specialist.” The
gender specialist told my parents that children know their gender from a young age, and | know
what’s best for myself. The mental health professionals did not try to dissuade me from my beliefs.
At no point did anyone explore why I did not want to be a girl.

7. The doctors treated me like an adult who could make informed lifelong decisions.
Yet, | was in 8th grade. | had no concept of what it would mean to me as an adult to have children
someday. But this decision would affect every area of my life, from socialization and relationships
to sexual function, and my ability to have children. | cannot imagine a doctor asking a child this
and expecting them to make a mature judgment.

8. When speaking to my parents, the gender specialist cited the suicide rate, stating,
“If you don’t affirm your child, she will commit suicide.” The provider asked, “Would you rather
have a dead daughter or live son?”” They did not present any other option to treat my dysphoria to
me or to my parents. My distraught parents wanted me alive, so they listened to my doctors.
However, | wasn’t suicidal until I underwent treatments.

9. Like many dysphoric children, I suffered from several mental health conditions,
such as ADHD, and comorbidities, including undiagnosed autism and body dysmorphia.

10. Because | am autistic, | have more masculine behaviors and am more object-
oriented than most girls. |1 have some social, cognitive, and sensory processing differences that
made school and going through puberty a little more difficult. These struggles were all normal but

were misrepresented as problems having to do with my gender.
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11.  Six months after my gender dysphoria diagnosis, | started puberty blockers. A
month later, | was put on testosterone. | stayed on puberty blockers for a year and on testosterone
for three years. When | received the hormones, the endocrinologist cited some of the risks,
including vaginal atrophy and the inability to have children. However, | did not really understand
what that would mean and didn’t realize that it could involve other pelvic structures.

12.  After | started the hormones, | began having severe hot flashes, like those in
menopause. My entire body got very itchy. After a while 1 would sometimes hear loud cracks in
my neck and back. The hormones caused an atrophy of my urinary tract. | suffered from urinary
tract infections and blood clots in my urine. | also developed digestive problems. I also experienced
a very heightened libido which was very difficult to deal with at such a young age. This caused
me to make a lot of regrettable sexual decisions. However, | did not want to discontinue
testosterone because | wanted to continue to be treated as a boy.

13.  At13, I started binding my breasts. A classmate groped me in 8th grade, and | never
wanted it to happen again. After two years of binding, | began seeking a mastectomy to have my
breasts removed. This process took only six months and did not require a psychological evaluation.
| was simply referred to a surgeon by a gender specialist.

14. At 15, just after my sophomore year of high school ended, |1 had a double
mastectomy. | had serious complications from the surgery. | have to wear bandages over my chest
every day because the areola grafts on my mastectomy started to fail and leak fluid two years post-
op.

15.  About 11 months after my surgery, | began experiencing grief. | realized this was

a mistake, that I had lost a part of my body. | won’t be able to breastfeed my future children. While
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doctors warned me about this, no teenager can grasp what that really means. | will never be able
to bond in an important way with any future children. I might not be able to have children.

16. | became extremely depressed to the point of my grades and school attendance
dropping, and | experienced severe paranoia and suicidal ideation. | had to drop out of high school
several times. The longer | was on my medications, the worse my mental health became. | felt
alienated and started to become suicidal for the first time. Although I did not act on my thoughts,
they were taking a toll on me.

17. | broke down one night as it all came to a head and made the decision to stop the
testosterone. | also dropped the male identification and began to identify again as female.

18. At first some things got worse. | had more UTIs, blood clots and sometimes tissue
in my urine, and worse digestive issues. That has since gone away, but I still experience frequent
urination, dehydration, and occasionally infections.

19. | was very emotionally volatile, and my suicidal ideation got worse. | became very
sick and lost a lot of weight. My overall mental health got worse. | had to drop out of school and
get a GED because | couldn’t perform at school.

20.  Over time my body began to readjust. My features resoftened. The fat in my body
and body shape began to return to a female form and | have regained the weight.

21.  Currently, my mental health is stable. The treatments were just band aids for my
mental health issues. | still struggle, but my depression and anxiety have improved.

22. It should not have been an option for me to be prescribed hormone treatments that
caused me harm and may have affected my fertility, or to have my healthy breasts removed at the

age of 15.
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23.  The complications from puberty blockers, testosterone, and surgery still impact my
day-to-day life in ways that I didn’t even know were possible. The puberty blockers gave me joint
and back pain, and the testosterone caused me to develop issues in my urinary tract. The status of
my fertility is currently unknown.

24, | still experience gender dysphoria to this day. The only thing that has improved it
long term was simply living in my body with no intervention or medication.

25.  Tennessee’s law banning these treatments is a crucial step in protecting children

and their right to grow up into healthy adults who are able to live fulfilling lives.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corrected.
Executed on May 19, 2023.

/s/ Chloe Cole
Chloe Cole
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,

No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.

JONATHAN SKRMETTI et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

DECLARATION OF HELENA KERSHNER
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I, Helena Kershner, declare as follows:

1. | am 24 years old. | have actual knowledge of the following facts and if called upon
to testify to them could and would do so competently. | am submitting this Declaration in support
of Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for a Preliminary Injunction and Complaint.

2. | am a detransitioned female from Ohio who would have transitioned as a minor if
my mother consented to “gender affirming” medical treatment: giving me testosterone.
Thankfully, she did not. Tennessee’s law prohibiting minors’ medical transitioning is a necessary
regulation that will allow kids to grow up and mature before changing their bodies forever.

3. | was conventionally feminine when | was young and had no discomfort with being
a girl. However, | was an introvert, and found it difficult to fit in with other girls.

4. My home life was challenging. My mom worked many hours, so my aunt became
my main caretaker. After my aunt moved out of the country, | spent more time surrounded by
babysitters than family. I struggled with depression and started seeing a therapist.

5. When | was 13, | started using the social media site Tumblr and spent a lot of time
online. On Tumblr, | became completely immersed in the “topics” I read about. As a socially
struggling teen, this had a big effect on me. When | read about self-harm, | started to self-harm.
When | read about eating disorders, | developed an eating disorder.

6. Around the time | turned 14, I found Tumblr’s “social justice” communities that
harshly stigmatized people who were straight, white, and not transgender. | found myself in an
environment where being a cis-white female was the absolute worst form of human, and being
trans was normal. | read that if a person did not like their body and if they suspected that they

might be trans, they are probably trans.
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7. Based on the content | saw and the materials | read, | started to interpret my social,
emotional, and body image difficulties as signs of gender dysphoria. | believed that by becoming
trans, | could become a desirable, accepted, not evil white cis-person that caused all of the pain of
the world. Soon, | began to identify as nonbinary.

8. When | was 15, | started to identify as transgender. | started socially transitioning,
changing my pronouns, cutting my hair, and changing my clothing. I received more positivity and
encouragement than | had ever experienced. With each change, | received positive affirmation on
the internet.

9. By age 17, I identified as a “trans boy” and was fully convinced that my only chance
at living a happy life would be to take hormones and undergo surgeries to change my body. |
became obsessed with my weight and believed that taking testosterone would transform my body
into the ideal | dreamed I could become: thin, tall, sporty, androgynous.

10. My school counselor and therapist both agreed with my beliefs. The psychologist
told my mother that | was at risk of suicide if she would not agree to testosterone treatments.
Thankfully, my mom did not allow it.

11. | went to a Planned Parenthood clinic in Chicago a few weeks after my 18™ birthday
and asked for testosterone to medically transition. No clinician asked me what was behind my
desperation to change my body. The clinician prescribed me testosterone that day without any
blood work or medical evaluation because I seemed “so sure” about my decision. | told the
clinicians that | wanted a high dose so | would see more changes in my body. They agreed and

prescribed me 100mg of testosterone per week.
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12.  The mental health effects of testosterone were profound. | began experiencing
uncontrollable episodes of rage and paranoia, where | was a danger to myself and others. 1 self-
harmed more and became suicidal. Due to this, | was hospitalized twice. No prescribing ever
mentioned these side effects of testosterone. Instead, | was prescribed a litany of psychiatric drugs.
This time was so dark that it caused me to question the original promises of a joyful trans life.

13. In February 2018, | stopped taking testosterone and began the journey of
detransitioning. My mysterious mental illness went away soon after and has never returned.

14. | am grateful that | spent only a short time on testosterone and am fortunate | haven’t
experienced any obvious physical injuries. But the impact this experience has had on my life
cannot be understated. | became a danger to myself and others under the influence of testosterone.
| struggled to process my new reality and face these mental health issues.

15. | am very thankful that my mother did not consent to giving me testosterone as a
teenager. If | had transitioned as a minor, I could have spent a lot more time taking it. Because of
her decision, | can now have a healthy relationship with my body.

16.  Tennessean children are lucky that its legislature has seen these dangers of “gender
affirmation” and created a law to allow kids to grow into their natural bodies first before making

a life-altering decision.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corrected.
Executed on May 19, 2023.

/s/ Helena Kershner
Helena Kershner
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE

NASHVILLE DIVISION
L.W., etal.,, )
)
Plaintiffs, )
)
V. ) No. 3:23-cv-00376
) Judge Richardson
JONATHAN SKRMETTI, et al., )
)
Defendants. )

DECLARATION OF PRISHA MOSLEY

I, Prisha Mosley, declare as follows:

1. I am a 25-year-old woman who has suffered severe and lasting injuries because |
was subjected to so-called “gender-affirming care” as a minor. This “care” included medical
intervention to make my body appear as that of a male.

2. I support the legislation under challenge in this case known as Senate Bill 1.

3. If legislation like Senate Bill 1 had been in place when I was a minor in my home
state of North Carolina, I would have been protected from the healthcare providers who
irreversibly harmed my body in order to make it look more like a boy’s.

4. As a teenager, | suffered from a number of mental health issues, including
anorexia, obsessive-compulsive disorder, borderline personality disorder, anxiety, and
depression. I also engaged in self-harm and suffered trauma from sexual assault.

5. At age 17, after meeting with me for a matter of minutes, a counselor told me that
I was actually a boy and that changing my body to be more like a boy’s would fix my mental
health issues. Around that same time, a doctor prescribed testosterone for me as “gender-
affirming care” to make my body look more like a boy’s body.

6. Less than six months later, while I was still 17, a surgeon familiar with breast
reduction surgery for women met with me and expressed eagerness in performing gender-
affirming “top surgery” on me. At age 18, the surgeon performed a double mastectomy,
removing my healthy breasts.

7. These healthcare providers, whom I trusted to take care of me, misled me into

believing that changing my body to look more like a boy’s body would solve my
mental/psychological problems.
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8. As a result of these healthcare providers’ actions, I have suffered severe and
lasting injuries. These injuries are both psychological and physical in nature.

0. My body did not develop the way it should have and does not function normally. I
am unable to nurse a child and I do not know if I will be able to conceive and give birth to a
child.

10. I suffer from chronic pain and a host of additional medical issues and
psychological and emotional anguish as a result of the medical and surgical abuse that [ was led

into by the healthcare providers who were supposed to take care of me.

11. I feel strongly that what happened to me should not have happened, and it should
not happen to anyone else. That is why I support Senate Bill 1.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on _ 05/19/2023
Date

____s/Prisha Mosley
Prisha Mosley

2
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,
No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.

JONATHAN SKRMETTI et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

DECLARATION OF BARBARA F.

Case 3:23-cv-00376 Document 113-14 Filed 05/19/23 Page 2 of 5 PagelD #: 2047



I, Barbara F.,1 declare as follows:

1. I am over the age of 18 years and am not a party to this action. I have actual
knowledge of the following facts and, if called upon to testify to them, could and would do so
competently. I am submitting this Declaration in support of Defendants’ opposition to Plaintiffs’
Motion for a Preliminary Injunction.

2. Tennessee recently passed a law prohibiting hormonal and surgical procedures “for
the purpose of: (A) Enabling a minor to identify with, or live as a purported identity inconsistent
with the minor’s sex, or (B) Treating purported discomfort or distress from a discordance between
the minor’s sex and asserted identity,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 68-33-101, ef seq. This Act will protect
parents against confused children, ex-spouses, and providers’ coercive tactics to obtain consent to
medical interventions “affirming” a child’s professed discordant gender identity—through
methods such as threatening alienation or loss of a child through suicide.

3. There is no such parent and child-protective law in my home state, where “gender-
affirming” providers and clinicians have blatantly disregarded my decisions related to my child’s
medical and mental health. Tennessee’s law will prevent its parents and children from suffering
harm like mine and my daughter’s.

4. When my daughter, B, was young, her father (my ex-husband) gave B’s brother
preferential treatment. B’s father also ridiculed her for having traits similar to mine, such as the

way we both laugh.

1 Declarant is submitting this Declaration using a pseudonym to protect the privacy of her
children and other family members.
2
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5. When B was 11 years old, she told me she identified as a boy and wanted me to call
her by a male name she had chosen. B’s father championed her new “male” identity and harassed
me for not affirming it. He accused me of emotional abuse and called child protection services
against me. B’s father convinced B to avoid visiting me under our custody agreement unless I
affirmed the discordant identity.

6. Shortly after B announced that she identified as a boy, I acted on the advice of our
family physician and took B to a gender clinic. I naively believed that the clinic’s psychologist
would evaluate and provide counseling to discuss B’s sudden identification as a boy before
medical intervention to “affirm” her choice.

7. When we arrived at the clinic, the staff psychologist did an evaluation. However,
the psychologist also said she did not have time to see B regularly for more in-depth psychological
help. I told the clinic staff that B needed psychological counseling before starting any medical
interventions (i.e., seeing an endocrinologist). As a parent, I was confused why there were two
different offices: Why would we visit with an endocrinologist if the psychologist (as a gatekeeper)
isn’t prioritizing seeing my child regularly? I was instantly troubled by the clear lack of any regard
for my child’s underlying comorbidities. I could picture my child on a conveyor belt, as if she was
just one more coin in their purse.

8. That same day, the clinic left me alone in a room for 2 hours. While I waited, I
thought the psychologist was talking to my child, and then my ex-husband. However, it turned out
that B and her father secretly met with the clinic’s endocrinologist without my knowledge or
consent to discuss starting her puberty blockers. After their secret meeting, the endocrinologist

returned to my room to speak with me and my daughter to “get me on board” with the treatment.
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9. I had researched puberty blockers and cross-sex hormone therapy and was
concerned about their unproven safety and efficacy. When I raised these concerns, the
endocrinologist said no studies show that the drugs aren’t safe. She also told me in front of my
daughter that I needed “to get on board if I don’t want my daughter to commit suicide.”

10. My ex-husband and I have shared decision-making authority for our children’s
medical care. I have repeatedly notified clinic staff, orally and in writing, that I do not consent to
them treating B. The clinic staff ignored my directions.

11. The clinic and B’s father have continued with regular consultations with my
daughter without my consent. I have reviewed documents from the clinic where staff noted that
they plan to “convince me” to consent to the medical interventions. The notion of “informed
consent” or parental decision-making was non-existent.

12. The availability and promotion of “gender-affirming” medical intervention for
minors were used to drive a wedge between B and me, preventing B from receiving counseling for
underlying mental health issues and exposing her to unknown long-term medical and mental health
consequences without my consent.

13. Tennessee’s Act prevents such coercive manipulation and potential harm against

its vulnerable children and should be upheld to protect children and their families.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
Executed on May 18, 2023.

/s/ Barbara F.
Barbara F. (pseudonym)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,

No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.

JONATHAN SKRMETTI et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

DECLARATION OF JOHN STILES
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I, John Stiles,! declare as follows:

1. | am over the age of 18 years and am not a party to this action. | have actual
knowledge of the following facts and, if called upon to testify to them, could and would do so
competently. I am submitting this Declaration in support of Defendants’ opposition to Plaintiffs’
Motion for a Preliminary Injunction.

2. Tennessee recently passed a law prohibiting medical procedures performed on
minors “for the purpose of: (A) Enabling a minor to identify with, or live as a purported identity
inconsistent with the minor’s sex, or (B) Treating purported discomfort or distress from a
discordance between the minor’s sex and asserted identity,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 68-33-101, et seq.
This Act will provide parents with necessary protections against manipulation and coercion on the
part of health care providers, ex-spouses, and confused children to comply with demands for
medical and surgical interventions aimed at “affirming” a child’s professed discordant gender
identity under threats of alienation or loss of a child to suicide.

3. No such parent and child-protective law exists in my home state. Providers have
blatantly disregarded my decisions for my child’s medical and mental health. Tennessee’s Act will
prevent its parents and children from suffering similar harm. It will restore the rights of all parents,
not only those who agree with demands for “gender-affirming” medical interventions.

4. | am the father of an 18-year-old son, C (pseudonym), who had received medical
treatment from the University of California San Francisco (“UCSF”) Child & Adolescent Gender

Center as a minor. UCSF had actively worked to prevent my participation in my son’s care to the

! Declarant is submitting this Declaration using a pseudonym for himself and his son to protect
the privacy of his child and family.
2
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point of providing information to the attorney representing my son in family court aimed at
stripping me of custody because | would not affirm my son in a discordant gender identity.

5. In fact, I knew nothing about my son receiving life-altering medical interventions
until I received a statement from my insurance carrier showing that it had paid more than $209,000
to a child and adolescent gender clinic at UCSF. He was 17 years old. Even then, | did not know
what the payment was for until | asked my ex-wife. She emailed me that she was “pleased” to
report that our son had been given an implant of Supprelin (used to suppress testosterone) and was
receiving estradiol (estrogen) pills.

6. My research on these substances showed that they chemically castrate patients and
are even used specifically for that purpose in some cases for sex offenders. Yet, here my 17-year-
old son was receiving these drugs from the gender clinic ostensibly to improve his health and well-
being.

7. | have learned that Supprelin, a popular method for administering puberty blockers
for adolescents like my son, requires surgical implantation. It is a surgical intervention
administered to children under the age of 18, which is contrary to any testimony that surgical
interventions are not prescribed for minors and not recommended by the “Standards of Care.”

8. The surgical implantation of Supprelin into my son violated the family court’s
custody order, which stated that my son was not permitted to “undergo any gender identity related
surgery” until he turned 18, absent a written agreement of both parents or order of the court, which
UCSF had a copy of and made a record of the family court’s custody order in C.’s patient notes. |
did not agree to the surgical implantation, nor is there any court order permitting it. Yet, C.’s

records show a surgical procedure performed on him to insert the Supprelin.
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9. After UCSF surgically implanted my 17-year-old son with Supprelin LA (without
my knowledge or consent, but paid for by my health insurance), UCSF clinicians discussed follow-
up surgical options with him without both parents present, including breast implants, facial
feminization, and bottom surgery. At the time, my son was 17 years and 5 months old.

10. C.’s patient notes state that his “family was involved in complex family custody
case” and that I “adamantly opposed C.’s transition.” This is not true. I would not oppose C.’s
transition if it were medically safe for him to do so. However, my research showed significant
evidence that medical transitioning is very unsafe.

11. I sought the information necessary to make an informed decision on my son’s
treatment. | asked UCSF clinicians about the safety of these treatments, citing the alarming
research | found concluding that puberty blockers when administered to a minor, cause permanent
damage to the child. The providers did not attempt to respond to my questions. UCSF failed to
ease my concerns in the face of this glaring evidence that the treatments cause permanent harm
when administered to minors. Instead of receiving an answer, UCSF squarely aimed to strip me of
custody by apprising the family court that | questioned its protocols.

12.  Similarly, I emailed UCSF’s lead physician, providing him with research that | had
found which suggests that puberty blockers can cause cognitive harm. After one year had passed,
the physician finally acknowledged my email but still failed to provide me with any substantial
feedback about my concerns for my son’s safety.

13. UCSF concluded that C. gave informed consent. Yet, the form the clinicians
provided C., my then 16-year-old son, did not indicate that permanent and irreversible sterility is

a potential and likely outcome of the recommended treatment, particularly when puberty blockers
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are combined with estrogen, as is the case with C. The form merely indicated that the treatments
“might” impact his fertility.

14. However, the day after C. gave UCSF his “informed consent,” they banked his
sperm: collecting, freezing, and storing his sperm for future use. I contend that UCSF’s actions
were motivated by the possibility that these treatments would make C. infertile.

15. My experiences with UCSF point to an ideologically driven conveyor belt onto
which vulnerable children like my son are placed and processed without the safeguards usually
inherent in medical procedures.

16.  Parental participation is tolerated only so long as it affirms the ideology. If, as in
my case, the parent asks questions instead of immediately affirming the agenda, then that parent
is disregarded even to the point, as in my case, of having their rights stripped away. Parent
participation assists in closing the significant power differential between physicians and minors.

17.  The availability of “gender-affirming” medical interventions for vulnerable
children experiencing distress about changes in their bodies enables the ideological conveyor belt
to proceed unhindered, leaving in its wake sterilized, drug-dependent and dysfunctional young
adults, shattered relationships, and distrust in the medical profession.

18.  Tennessee’s efforts through its recent legislation to ban these treatments for minors
is necessary to prevent the irreversible and incalculable harms caused by the unchecked gender

medicine machine. The Act will save Tennessee families from similar devastation.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corrected.
Executed on May 19, 2023.

/s/ John Stiles
John Stiles (pseudonym)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,

No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.

JONATHAN SKRMETTI et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

DECLARATION OF KELLIE C.
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I, Kellie C.,! declare as follows:

1. | am over the age of 18 years and am not a party to this action. | have actual
knowledge of the following facts and, if called upon to testify to them, could and would do so
competently. I am submitting this Declaration in support of Defendants’ opposition to Plaintiffs’
Motion for a Preliminary Injunction.

2. Tennessee recently passed a law prohibiting medical procedures performed on
minors “for the purpose of: (A) Enabling a minor to identify with, or live as a purported identity
inconsistent with the minor’s sex, or (B) Treating purported discomfort or distress from a
discordance between the minor’s sex and asserted identity,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 68-33-101, et seq.
This Act will provide parents with necessary protections against manipulation and coercion on the
part of health care providers, ex-spouses, and confused children to comply with demands for
medical and surgical interventions aimed at “affirming” a child’s professed discordant gender
identity under threats of alienation or loss of a child to suicide.

3. No such parent and child-protective law exists in my home state. Providers have
used coercion and manipulation to obtain my consent or blatantly disregarded my decisions for
my child’s medical and mental health. Tennessee’s Act will prevent its parents and children from
suffering similar harm. It will restore the rights of all parents, not just those who agree with
demands for “gender-affirming” medical interventions, to make medical and mental health care
decisions for their children following their natural, healthy development.

4. My daughter, D., became involved in fan fiction at age 11, around the time she

began puberty. By age 13, D. had diagnosed herself with gender dysphoria and began identifying

! Declarant is submitting this Declaration using a pseudonym to protect the privacy of her children
and other family members.
2
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as a 17-year-old male character from Harry Potter. For several years, D. celebrated the birthday of
the fictional identity and, at age 17, identified as a 23-year-old male.

5. D. underwent a psychiatric evaluation which found that she is delusional and
incapable of caring for herself. She is on the autism spectrum and has OCD and possibly ADHD,
but she is not psychotic. The evaluation team admits that D. identifies as a 23-year-old man and
proclaims that she has Dissociative Identity (“multiple personality”’) Disorder. The psychiatric
team does not believe she has DID, but that D. has researched DID and is using it as a maladaptive
coping tool for working through the childhood trauma of being sexually assaulted at age 13 or 14.

6. D. is in a residential treatment center. The treatment team has not engaged in
therapy with D. to address her underlying issues. Instead, they have embraced her delusion that
she is a 23-year-old fictional male character with a transgender identity. The therapists reiterate
that they want D. to feel “safe,” so they will not address any underlying issues unless D. brings it
up on her own.

7. D. has asked for puberty blockers and testosterone. Despite her myriad co-
morbidities and unaddressed sexual trauma, the treatment team said that D. is ready for “gender-
affirming” medical interventions. The therapists and psychologists have told me that if | do not

299

consent, I “will have a dead daughter instead of a ‘live son.”” The providers constantly tell me I
must “get on board” with what D wants.
8. The therapists and D.’s father told her that my refusal to consent was the only thing

standing in the way of her getting those treatments. As a result, my daughter has alienated me, and

| have been banned from knowing her medical status.

Case 3:23-cv-00376 Document 113-16 Filed 05/19/23 Page 4 of 5 PagelD #: 2060



9. Today, D. is 19. As far as | know, D. never received puberty blockers or cross-sex
hormones. Five months ago, D’s younger brother, age 17, told me that D. no longer identifies as
the 17-year-old fictional character from Harry Potter. Now, D bounces back and forth to multiple
characters, calling herself “AND-1.”” It’s expected that everyone embraces D.’s ever-changing
pronouns and various personas, including the “transgender” aspect of any given character.

10. Tennessee’s Act protects its vulnerable children by making these medical
interventions unavailable. The Act will also prevent the harm inflicted on parents who fight to
defend their mentally disturbed children from irresponsible healthcare providers. It is a necessary

regulation that should be upheld for the protection of children and their families.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corrected.
Executed on May 18, 2023.

/sl Kellie C.
Kellie C. (pseudonym)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,

No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.

JONATHAN SKRMETTI et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

DECLARATION OF ROBERT ROE
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I, Robert Roe,! declare as follows:

1. | am over the age of 18 years and am not a party to this action. | have actual
knowledge of the following facts and, if called upon to testify to them, could and would do so
competently. I am submitting this Declaration in support of Defendants’ opposition to Plaintiffs’
Motion for Preliminary Injunction.

2. | am an Alabama resident and the father of a son who said he was gender dysphoric,
socially transitioned at school without my or my wife’s knowledge, and was referred for “gender
transition” medical treatments.

3. Tennessee’s law prohibiting medical procedures performed on minors “for the
purpose of: (A) Enabling a minor to identify with, or live as a purported identity inconsistent with
the minor’s sex, or (B) Treating purported discomfort or distress from a discordance between the
minor’s sex and asserted identity,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 68-33-101, et seq., will protect vulnerable
children from providers and third parties secretly interfering in their medical care decisions like |
experienced.

4. My son, J, was diagnosed with ADHD and anxiety. He never expressed any distress
about his sex until middle school. During that time, J spent a lot of time online and was interested
in anime and role-playing games. He also became friends with a girl who identified as transgender.

5. Between 8" and 9" grade, J left a note for his mother stating that he was
“transgender” and signed it “your daughter.” Later, J told his mother that he “felt more female than

male.” J left me a similar note saying he had gender dysphoria for as long as he could remember.

1 Declarant is submitting this Declaration using a pseudonym to protect the privacy of his children
and other family members.
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6. During a therapy session, J said he started feeling that he was transgender in the 8"
grade and that his “research” online confirmed his feelings. I learned that this “research” consisted
of watching YouTube videos of internet trans influencers, and that he had self-diagnosed by
answering online questionnaires.

7. In 9" grade, J’s public school facilitated J’s social transition to a female gender
identity without my or my wife’s knowledge or consent. The school began calling J by a female
name and referring to J by female pronouns. | learned, by accident, through communication with
a teacher about an art project.

8. | believe that the school instituted its own therapy plan for J by interfering with his
gender questioning. However, parents should agree on any therapy plans for minors before
implementing them.

9. We took J to a therapist, who diagnosed him with OCD, anxiety, depression, and
ADHD. The therapist did not do a psychological evaluation on J.

10. During a family therapy session, the therapist focused solely on gender dysphoria
and did not mention J’s other comorbidities. The therapist printed out a handout from an advocacy
group. The therapist said that kids have a sense of their gender identity by age 3 or 4. She tried to
convince my wife and me to let J take the lead on the diagnosis and medical treatment.

11.  After the third or fourth visit, the therapist recommended that we take J to a gender
clinic to receive puberty blockers or cross-sex hormones. While J was present, the therapist told
us that kids are more likely to attempt suicide and run away from home if their parents do not

affirm their chosen identity.
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12.  We cut ties with the therapist and did not follow her recommendation. Afterward,
I got tired of attempting to find a therapist to look at the big picture instead of focusing only on J’s
gender issues. As many parents in my situation will say, “No therapy is better than bad therapy.”

13.  Jstruggled with self-esteem, and | believe his comorbidities amplified this. It was
not clear that medical intervention would solve his underlying issues. | thought the interventions
were permanent changes with life-long consequences to J’s body for a problem that a less invasive
route could solve.

14.  Today, J is 19 years old. He has never received puberty blockers or cross-sex
hormones. While he still identifies as transgender, he maintains conventionally masculine
mannerisms and features. J has not shown any interest in medical transitioning even though he is
an adult and could get the hormones by going to any Planned Parenthood or local gender clinic.

15. | hope J lives as his biological sex until his prefrontal cortex fully develops. That
way, he can develop into a healthy body before deciding to medically transition.

16. A total ban on these treatments for children, such as provided in Tennessee’s Act,
IS necessary to regulate medical professionals’ protocol and to prevent adolescents from harming

themselves and their future.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corrected.
Executed on May 18, 2023.

/s/ Robert Roe
Robert Roe (pseudonym)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,

No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.

JONATHAN SKRMETTI et al.,
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Defendants.
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I, Yvonne Yoe,! declare as follows:

1. | am over the age of 18 years and am not a party to this action. | have actual
knowledge of the following facts and, if called upon to testify to them, could and would do so
competently. I am submitting this Declaration in support of Defendants’ opposition to Plaintiffs’
Motion for a Preliminary Injunction.

2. Tennessee recently passed a law prohibiting medical procedures performed on
minors “for the purpose of: (A) Enabling a minor to identify with, or live as a purported identity
inconsistent with the minor’s sex, or (B) Treating purported discomfort or distress from a
discordance between the minor’s sex and asserted identity,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 68-33-101, et seq.
This Act will provide parents with necessary protections against manipulation and coercion on the
part of health care providers, ex-spouses, and confused children to comply with demands for
medical interventions aimed at “affirming” a child’s professed discordant gender identity under
threats of alienation or loss of a child to suicide.

3. | am a resident of the State of Tennessee. My daughter, Z, received treatment from
a local eating disorder therapist who encouraged me to affirm her discordant gender identity. | fear
that my daughter’s medical providers will blatantly disregard my decisions for my child’s medical
and mental health. Tennessee’s Act will prevent parents, like me, and children, like my daughter,
from suffering harm. It will restore the rights of all parents, not just those who agree with demands
for “gender-affirming” medical interventions, to make medical and mental health care decisions

for their children following their natural, healthy development.

! Declarant is submitting this Declaration using a pseudonym to protect the privacy of her children
and other family members.
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4. Growing up, my daughter, Z, never hinted that she had issues with her gender
identity. However, Z suffers from several comorbidities, including learning disabilities, anxiety,
depression, self-harm, anorexia, and body dysmorphia. She also suffered from bullying and online
sexual abuse.

5. In 2020, Z saw an eating disorder therapist. She was battling anorexia and was near
the point of being hospitalized.

6. Around that time, Z announced that she was transgender. She was 12 years old. |
was completely blindsided, so | spoke with her therapist privately. The therapist told me that Z
suggested she had felt she was transgender for 3 years. The therapist hinted that | should affirm
her.

7. My daughter has severe dyscalculia, a learning disability that causes her to struggle
understanding space in time. Therefore, 3 years could mean 10 years or even 3 weeks.

8. My daughter had never hinted that she had gender dysphoria before this
announcement.

9. The therapist was aware that Z had never questioned her gender before. | was
shocked that the therapist blindly took her word for it knowing about her comorbidities.

10. | poured myself into research and was completely horrified that no randomized
clinical trials on gender-affirming therapy and medical procedures existed. There is absolutely no
data to support the safety of these medical treatments on minors. | quickly realized that because |
questioned my daughter’s trans identity, | was considered closed-minded and bigoted. | could be

accused of psychological abuse for not 100% affirming Z’s new identity.
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11. | became paralyzed trying to find Z the help she needed. | was scared to speak to
her Vanderbilt-affiliated pediatrician and afraid to have her sit one-on-one with a therapist. | felt
so betrayed by the medical profession. | felt that, at every corner, a provider or clinician would
encourage my daughter to transition, ultimately ending with unnecessary and harmful medical
treatments without my consent.

12. | ended up cutting ties with the eating disorder therapist. |1 knew it was a gamble
because Z was so new to her eating disorder recovery. Still, I did not want to risk more damage
that may be caused by her beloved therapist affirming her while 1 was non-affirming due to my
own research of the literature.

13.  As a parent who understands the current research available, I am infuriated that |
cannot obtain the help my child needs based on the same rigors necessary to establish a standard
of care in every other area of medicine. Through developing relationships and connections with
parents like me, I ultimately found a therapist in Dublin, Ireland, to work with her. Z saw the
therapist via Zoom for about a year.

14.  Today, Z iswell and only needs to see her therapist on an as-needed basis. However,
| fear her needing further care for her anorexia or any other health issue that may pop up due to
the current gender-affirming political and clinical environment.

15. | also cannot get the mental health care | need to process this challenging situation
emotionally. Every single parent | have met in Tennessee dealing with this feels the same way.
We are struggling to find help.

16. Tennessee’s Act protects its vulnerable children by making these medical

interventions unavailable. The Act will also prevent the harm inflicted on parents who fight to
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defend their mentally disturbed children from irresponsible healthcare providers. It is a necessary

regulation that should be upheld for the protection of children and their families.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corrected.

Executed on May 19, 2023.

/s/ Yvonne Yoe
Yvonne Yoe (pseudonym)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,

No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.
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Defendants.
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I, John Noakes,! declare as follows:

1. | am over the age of 18 years and am not a party to this action. | have actual
knowledge of the following facts and, if called upon to testify to them, could and would do so
competently. I am submitting this Declaration in support of Defendants’ opposition to Plaintiffs’
Motion for a Preliminary Injunction.

2. Tennessee recently passed a law prohibiting hormonal and surgical procedures “for
the purpose of: (A) Enabling a minor to identify with, or live as a purported identity inconsistent
with the minor’s sex, or (B) Treating purported discomfort or distress from a discordance between
the minor’s sex and asserted identity,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 68-33-101, et seq. This Act will protect
parents against confused children, ex-spouses, and providers, whose coercive tactics to obtain
consent to medical interventions “affirming” a child’s professed discordant gender identity include
threatening alienation or loss of a child through suicide.

3. | am a resident of the State of Tennessee, along with my 20-year-old daughter, B,
who recently identified as transgender. However, B had never suggested that she had issues with
her gender before. She was a “girly girl.” She did gymnastics and ballet, and happily wore a pink
tutu.

4. Growing up, my daughter, B, and | had a good relationship. However, my
relationship with B changed after her mother and I divorced. B was about 13 years old at this time.
Initially, visitation was regular and normal. However, as time went on, | did not see her as much

due to the distance created by the divorce.

! Declarant is submitting this Declaration using a pseudonym to protect the privacy of his children
and other family members.
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5. After B turned 16, | saw her only a handful of times the following year. It became
increasingly difficult for B to deal with her mother whenever she visited me.

6. | invited B over right before she was about to turn 17 years old to celebrate her
birthday. It was the first time | had seen her in months. When B arrived, | was completely shocked.
She had given herself a buzz cut and was dressed like a boy.

7. B announced that she was transgender. She told me that she identified as a boy and
wanted me to call her by a new name she had chosen. This was the first time | learned that B was
experiencing issues with her gender identity.

8. B handed me papers from the Vanderbilt University Medical Clinic (“VUMC”).
She had been to VUMC’s gender clinic and saw Dr. Cassandra Brady. My ex-wife had taken her
and had not informed me about the appointment. B’s mother supported her new male gender
identity.

9. B told me she wanted me to sign these papers, giving my consent and approval for
her to receive testosterone shots from Vanderbilt. Her request overwhelmed me, and | wanted to
speak with her doctor.

10. B and my ex-wife pressured me to sign immediately. Dr. Brady had told them about
the risk of suicide if they chose not to administer medical treatments. They both told me that if B
committed suicide, it would be all my fault. However, | needed more information before signing.
My gut told me that something was not right. B and her mother said everything would make sense

once | talked to Dr. Brady.
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11.  So, I called Dr. Brady at VUMC. Dr. Brady told me she was “so sure” that B was
a good candidate. Dr. Brady said that kids as young as 5 to 7 years old come to the clinic and that
the physicians know right away if the kids are good candidates for medical treatments.

12. Dr. Brady said that kids question their gender as early as 5 to 7 years old, and when
these kids come into the clinic, the physicians know right away if the kids are good candidates for
medical treatments. The concept that a child would know they are transgender that young was
completely absurd. Still, I challenged Dr. Brady’s suggestion and told her that when B was
younger, she never acted like a boy, did girly things, and never suggested she was uncomfortable
in her body. I ended the call when it became clear that Dr. Brady did not care about my experiences
with and observations of B as a child that clearly identified as female.

13. Ultimately, I could not agree to the medical treatments. | was concerned about the
permanent harm it might have on her body. | wanted to wait for her at least to turn 18 so she could
have more time to develop. The possibility that she might change her mind was very real. This
change happened so quickly that she could easily change her mind.

14. Dr. Brady’s promotion of “gender-affirming” medical intervention for minors was
used to drive a wedge between me and my daughter. For the next year, until B turned 18, B and
her mother harassed me for not affirming her gender or consenting to the treatments. B has since
completely alienated me from her life. | have no idea if she has received medical treatments or
continues to visit VUMC.

15.  Tennessee’s law will prevent its parents from suffering harm like mine. It will also
help prevent coercive manipulation and potential harm against its vulnerable children and should

be upheld to protect children and their families.
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| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
Executed on May 19, 2023.

/s/ John Noakes

John Noakes (pseudonym)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

L.W.etal.,

by and through her parents and next friends,
Samantha Williams and Brian Williams,
No. 3:23-cv-00376
Plaintiffs, JUDGE RICHARDSON
V.

JONATHAN SKRMETTI et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

DECLARATION OF JAMIE REED
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I, Jamie Reed, declare as follows:

1. I am an adult, I am under no mental incapacity or disability, and I know that the
following facts set forth are true because I have personal knowledge of them. I am submitting this
Declaration in support of Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for a Preliminary
Injunction and Complaint.

2. Tennessee’s law prohibiting hormonal and surgical procedures “for the purpose of:
(A) Enabling a minor to identify with, or live as a purported identity inconsistent with the minor’s
sex, or (B) Treating purported discomfort or distress from a discordance between the minor’s sex
and asserted identity,” Tenn. Code Ann. § 68-33-101, ef seq., is necessary to support children’s
health and welfare and to protect the medical profession’s integrity and public respect.

3. I hold a Bachelor of Arts in Cultural Anthropology from the University of Missouri
St. Louis and a Master of Science in Clinical Research Management from Washington University.
I have worked at Washington University for seven years. I initially worked with HIV-positive
patients, caring for many transgender individuals. From 2018 until November 2022, I worked as a
case manager at the Washington University Pediatric Transgender Center (“the Center”) at St.
Louis Children’s Hospital. My duties included meeting with patients two to three days a week and
completing the screening triage intake of patients referred to the Center.

4. I have experience and expertise working with transgender individuals and pediatric
populations. I accepted the job at the Center because I firmly believed I could provide quality care
for children there. Instead, I personally witnessed children experience shocking injuries from
puberty blockers and cross-sex hormones, which often were prescribed to them without complete

informed parental consent or an accurate assessment of the child’s needs. To my knowledge, the
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Center did not track patients’ adverse outcomes post-discharge. I left the Center in November 2022
after having raised concerns internally for years.

5. During my time at the Center, I was required to schedule patients to the
Endocrinology or Adolescent Medicine practice based on their age and stage of puberty. Generally,
Psychology was primarily only available to write patients’ letter of support for medical transition
treatments instead of ongoing therapy. Psychiatry was limited to patients “not too severe” to avoid
the already overburdened emergency room for patients suffering suicidal ideations and self-harm
or requiring inpatient eating disorder treatment.

6. On my own initiative, I tracked certain patients on a case-by-case basis. I was
concerned that Center doctors were prescribing cross-sex hormones and puberty blockers to
children who were not good candidates. I created a “red flag” list of children where other staff and
I had concerns. Ultimately, Center doctors sent these children to our in-house therapists, and those
therapists inevitably provided letters to the doctors. Center doctors told me I had to stop raising
these concerns, and I was no longer allowed to maintain the red flag list. I also wanted to track the
number of our patients who detransitioned, attempted suicide, or committed suicide. The Center
would not make these tracking systems a priority.

7. From 2020 to 2022, the Center initiated medical transition for more than 600
children and adolescents. Approximately 74% of these patients were assigned female at birth. One
biologically female patient on cross-sex hormones called the Center after having sexual intercourse
and experiencing severe vaginal lacerations as a result. Patient bled through a pad, pants, and a
towel wrapped around their waist. Ultimately, Patient required surgical treatment in St. Louis

Children’s Hospital emergency room. I have heard from minor patients given testosterone that
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their clitorises have grown so large that they now constantly chafe against their pants, causing

them pain when they walk.

8.

Nearly all children and adolescents who came to the Center presented with severe

comorbidities, including autism, ADHD, depression, anxiety, PTSD, trauma histories, OCD, and

eating disorders. Many were prescribed puberty blockers or cross-sex hormones. For example:

a.

Patient came to the Center identifying as a “communist, attack helicopter, human,
female, maybe nonbinary.” Patient was in poor mental health and reported early on that
they had no idea of their gender identity. The Center prescribed Patient cross-sex
hormones. Patient subsequently reported that their mental health worsened.

Patient was in a residential sex offender treatment facility in state custody. Patient had
previously sexually abused animals and had stated that they would do so again when
released. There were questions about the consistency of gender history. The Center
prescribed Patient cross-sex hormones.

Patient had severe Obsessive Compulsive Disorder and threatened to self-harm their
genitals. Patient did not have a trans or other incongruent gender identity. The Center
prescribed Patient cross-sex hormones to reduce libido and sexual arousal chemically.
Patient had a history of sexual abuse and notified the psychologist of this. Documented
in the letter of support were Patient’s concerns about the changes that testosterone
would cause to their genitals. The Center prescribed Patient testosterone.

Patient had severe mental health concerns and was prescribed psychiatric medications.
Patient failed to take these prescriptions. The Center nonetheless prescribed Patient

cross-sex hormones.
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f. Patient had significant autism with unrealistic expectations, struggled to answer
questions, and wanted questions provided ahead of time. The Center prescribed Patient
feminizing hormones.

g. Patient had a mental health history that included violent tendencies. Parent forced
Patient to cross-dress. The Center prescribed Patient feminizing hormones.

h. Patient was on cross-sex hormones and had decompensating mental health, outlandish
name changes, and a self-diagnosis of multiple personalities. The Center continued
prescribing Patient cross-sex hormones.

1. Patient believed that their prescribed testosterone was poisoning them and stopped for
a period. Patient had significant serious mental health issues. The Center continued
prescribing Patient testosterone.

j. A 17-year-old Patient arrived at the Center with non-relative man who had been living
with Patient. One year later, the Center prescribed Patient hormones. Patient’s mental
health deteriorated. Patient visited the Emergency Department and disclosed that the
non-relative man that had brought them to the clinic had been sexually and physically
abusing them. The Center continued Patient’s medical transition treatment.

k. Patient was in residential facility, in foster care. The Center convinced the facility staff
to allow Patient to start testosterone. Patient ran away numerous times from the facility
and began having unprotected intercourse while on testosterone. The Center continued
prescribing Patient testosterone.

1. Patient admitted that their parent encouraged them to start taking testosterone at 11-

years-old because they were moving to a state that the parent believed would restrict
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Patient’s care in the future. Patient had desisted in male identity to a vague nonbinary.
Patient changed their name numerous times and struggled with thoughts about
desistence, even saying they wanted breast development. The Center continued
prescribing Patient testosterone.

m. Patient on cross-sex hormones was evaluated for OCD and a somatization disorder with

“seizure” activity. The Center continued prescribing Patient cross-sex hormones.

n. Patient on cross-sex hormones stopped taking their schizophrenia medications without

consulting a doctor. The Center continued prescribing Patient cross-sex hormones.

9. I witnessed puberty blockers worsen patients’ mental health. Several children that
had never contemplated suicide attempted suicide after taking puberty blockers. Similarly, many
patients with depression and anxiety symptoms became more severe after starting cross-sex
hormones. The Center did not require children to continue with mental health care after they
prescribed cross-sex hormones or puberty blockers. The Center continued treatment despite
patients reporting worsening mental health.

10. The Center had four basic requirements to place a child on puberty blockers or
cross-sex hormones: age or puberty stage, therapist letter, parental consent, and a clinical visit. In
practice, every patient who met these minimum criteria was prescribed cross-sex hormones or
puberty blockers.

11. First, the Center required that the child be at a certain age or stage of puberty.
Puberty stages were measured according to the Tanner Stage system. When I was at the clinic, the

World Professional Association for Transgender Health (“WPATH”) Standard of Care Version 7
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recommended that children be at least 16 years old before starting cross-sex hormones. The Center
routinely prescribed cross-sex hormones to children as young as 13.

12. Second, the Center required the child to have a therapist referral letter authorizing
medical treatment. Supposedly, this requirement ensured that two independent professional
clinicians agreed that medical transition was appropriate before giving the child medication. The
Center would recommend therapists it knew would offer children a letter supporting medical
transition. If the child did not receive a letter from an outside therapist authorizing puberty blockers
or cross-sex hormones, we would send the patient to the Center’s in-house therapists. I was
instructed to draft and send language to the therapists for them to use for letters supporting medical
transition. Most therapists had a template letter drafted by the Center. Many therapists on the
Center’s list would return letters supporting medical transition after 1-2 hours with a patient.

13. Third, the Center required parental consent. But parents routinely said they felt they
were pressured to consent. I was present during visits where Center doctors obtained consent by
telling the parent of a child assigned female at birth, “You can either have a living son or a dead
daughter,” or parents of a child assigned male at birth, “You can either have a living daughter or
dead son.”

14. The Center did not inform parents or children of all known side effects before
placing children on cross-sex hormones or puberty blockers. Center doctors knew that many of its
former patients had stopped taking cross-sex hormones and were detransitioning. Doctors did not
share this information with parents or children. The Center nurse and I expressed concerns about
one patient’s intellectual function and ability to provide informed consent. Patient attended a

school district for special education needs, could not identify where they lived, and could not
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explain what kind of legal documents or identification they possessed. The provider dismissed our
concerns and prescribed hormones. In a follow-up appointment, Patient stated that they were
possibly interested in having biological children. Patient never saw the fertility department and the
Center never discussed fertility questions with Patient.

15. Fourth, the Center required that the child attend a consultation with the
Endocrinology or Adolescent Medicine practices. On several occasions, I witnessed Center doctors
mention that they did not have time in the meeting to discuss everything they would have liked to.

16. During my four years working at the clinic, I witnessed only two instances where
doctors chose not to prescribe cross-sex hormones or puberty blockers for a child who met the four
basic criteria. Both cases involved patients with severe developmental delays. In one of those
cases, the doctors did not prescribe cross-sex hormones or puberty blockers, despite
recommending the medications, solely because the parents would not agree to monitor the child’s
medication administration.

17. Toward the end of my time at the Center, I saw a large increase in children seeking
transition treatment. When I started in 2018, the Center received between 5 and 10 calls a month.
When I left, the Center had received more than 40 calls a month. Many children reported that they
learned of their gender identities from TikTok.

18. Center doctors would prescribe puberty blockers or cross-sex hormones even if the
child had severe comorbidities or was influenced by social media.

19. Children had come into the clinic using pronouns of inanimate objects like

29 ¢

“mushroom,” “rock,” or “helicopter;” asking for hormones because they do not want to be gay;
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changing their identities on a day-to-day basis; and under clear pressure by a parent to identify in
a way inconsistent with the child’s actual identity.

20. In hundreds of other cases, Center doctors regularly issued puberty blockers or

cross-sex hormones despite concerns raised by the child’s individual circumstances. For example:

a. Patient’s gender identity shifted day-to-day. Patient changed preferred name and at one
point changed to non-binary identity. Center doctors continued prescribing Patient
cross-sex hormones.

b. 19-year-old Patient, initially seen as a minor, had a mastectomy at St. Louis Children’s
Hospital. Three months after the surgery, Patient contacted the surgeon and asked for
their breasts to be “put back on.”

c. Doctors placed a biologically female patient on cross-sex hormones. Later, I discovered
that Patient desired cross-sex hormones only to avoid becoming pregnant.

d. I witnessed a call between an outside psychiatrist and the Center’s endocrinologist.
Psychiatrist recommended that Patient not start cross-sex hormones due to the child’s
serious mental health issues. Patient had threatened to commit suicide by jumping off
a roof. The Center’s endocrinologist yelled at the psychiatrist and spoke down to this
provider.

e. Atintake, Patient identified as “blind,” even though vision tests revealed that the child
could see. Patient also identified as transgender. The Center dismissed the child’s
blindness claim as a somatization disorder but accepted Patient’s statement about

gender. The Center prescribed that child drugs for medical transition without
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confirming the length or persistence of the condition. The Center provided no
concurrent mental health.

21. I have personally witnessed staff say they were uncomfortable with how the Center
requested that they code bills sent to publicly funded insurance programs. I witnessed staff ask
providers for clarification on billing questions and have providers dismiss the concerns and
prioritize patients’ coverage. I personally witnessed staff report that they were aware that patients
had been coded incorrectly, coding for precocious puberty for a puberty blocker prescription when

the child did not have the condition.

22. In my role we had direct ties to the Vanderbilt Gender Center in Nashville,
Tennessee, early in my tenure. We were aware of a program that Vanderbilt started called the
TransBuddy Program. We extensively researched this program, one of my students had contact
with a staff member at Vanderbilt and we worked for a period to pilot the same program at St
Louis Children’s Hospital. We were interested in piloting this program in part because we knew
that Vanderbilt’s gender program was very similar in practice to our own program. We were
similarly embedded in a university research-based hospital system and shared the same structural
values in treating transgender children. The TransBuddy program itself is based on the same
fundamental principles that transgender children require special medical care that is kept protected
from any medical staff questions or true assessment. It is my assessment having spent hours
working to reproduce the program that Vanderbilt created that the same or very similar systematic

issues, ethical concerns, and maltreatment would be found in both centers.

10
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23. Washington University School of Medicine’s Pediatric Transgender Center at St
Louis Children’s Hospital is not an outlier in its practices. It is just like the vast majority if not all

other pediatric gender centers in the United States. I know this to be true for the following reasons:

a. Our clinical co-director was trained in gender care by Dr. Steven Rosenthal, the Medical
Director of the Children and Adolescent Gender Center at the University of California San
Francisco at Benioff Children’s Hospital. UCSF is known as a leading institution in
pediatric gender care. UCSF recently hosted the 2023 National Transgender Health
Summit. Our clinical co-director, Dr. Chris Lewis continued to seek out Dr. Rosenthal’s
clinical expertise on a regular basis through my tenure at the center and would state that he
wanted to discuss cases with his mentor. Even after those discussions clinical decisions
like I described above were made.

b. Our center multidisciplinary team attended numerous national conferences. We attended
as a group the Philadelphia Trans Wellness Conference at the Mazzoni Center. We also
attended as a group the Gender Odyssey Conference in San Diego. In these conference
sessions we were never challenged with any information or clinical practices that
demonstrated that our clinical practices were outside of the norm. If anything, we were
presented with information that demonstrated that our clinical care was potentially more
conservative than the prevailing norms at the coastal centers. For example, the conference
in San Diego had an entire session on the use of the cancer drug bicalutamide and our
provider, Dr Chris Lewis, was using this drug on a regular basis. This drug was not found
in any WPATH or Endocrine Society formal ‘guidelines’ and yet was clearly being used
by other gender centers treating children around the country.

11
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c. Our center’s multidisciplinary team was active in an online email national group that linked
together pediatric gender care providers. Although I never completed the steps to join that
group, in part because I already had enough email to manage, I heard from the providers
comments that our practices were actually more conservative than what they were seeing
on the group chats. Casey Lofquest, our center’s nurse practitioner even commented once
to me about this chat saying that if I think our center is going too far and not following the
‘guidelines’ that I would be appalled at some of the other clinical practices who do not
even know that ‘guidelines’ even exist.

d. We had patients who transferred their care to our center from centers in other states. Upon
reviewing the records from other centers I found that other centers did not even attempt to
determine who the legal guardians are for children in their care. I found that other centers
did not even request a letter of support at all before starting children on cross sex hormone
treatment. | also found in one case that a child transferred to our center who was started on
testosterone at the age of 11. It was apparent that other centers, within the United States,

were operating well outside of any standard of care.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corrected.
Executed on May 18, 2023

/s/ Jamie Reed
Jamie Reed
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